
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act - Persons needing special accommodations (including auxiliary communicative aids and services) for this 
meeting, should contact Staci Coons at 801-538-4718, giving her at least five working days notice.   

 

 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
 August 17, 2023, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 

1157 South Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 
The meeting can be viewed live at https://youtube.com/live/jlLin75-lL0 

                          
Thursday, August 17, 2023 – 9:00 am 
 
1.  Approval of Agenda                                  ACTION 
     – Randy Dearth, Chairman 

 
2.  Approval of Minutes                             ACTION 
    – Randy Dearth, Chairman 
 
3.  Old Business/Action Log                                                CONTINGENT 
     – Gary Nielson, Vice-Chairman  
 
4.  DWR Update                                                                     INFORMATIONAL 
     – J. Shirley, DWR Director 
 
5. Expo Permit Audit                                   ACTION 
    –  Sarah Scott, Financial Manager 
 
6.  Expo Permit Allocation                          ACTION 
    – Covy Jones, Wildlife Section Chief 
 
7.  Other Business                CONTINGENT 
    – Randy Dearth, Chairman 
 
 
 
 

  

https://youtube.com/live/jlLin75-lL0


 1 

                                  Draft 8/17/2023 
Wildlife Board Motions 

 
Following is a summary of Wildlife Board motions directing the Division to take action and the response to date: 
 
Fall 2022 – Target Date – Possibility of a 3-year season structure for Big Game seasons and hunter orange regulation 
reforms 
 
 MOTION:     I move that we ask the division to look into a 3-year season structure for big game season 
dates and the possibilities of hunter orange regulation reforms (including amount required, what other states allow 
etc.)  This is to be placed on the action log.   

 
Motion made by: Bryce Thurgood 

 Assigned to: Covy Jones and Wyatt Bubak 
 Action: Update given to the board on December 1, 2022 
 Placed on Action Log: December 2, 2021 
 
Fall 2022 – Target Date – Possibility of issuing 2 pt. or smaller buck deer tags to youth hunters 
  
 MOTION:  I move that we direct the division through the action log, to look at issuing 2pt. or smaller 
buck deer tags to youth hunters.  That in the four-year period, between 14-18, they would have the potential to be 
guaranteed at least one hunt for a 2pt. buck and that those tags would not take away from any of the other tag 
allotments but be in addition to the tags already issued.  We would ask the division to look at the impact that it 
would have on licensing and the herds as well as future youth hunters.  Kevin Albrecht included with the action log 
item that the addition of a survey be used to see what that need is. 

 
Motion made by: Karl Hirst 

 Assigned to: Lindy Varney and Covy Jones 
 Action: Under Study 
 Placed on Action Log: January 4, 2022 
 
Fall 2023 – Target Date – Youth Only deer permit program 
  
 MOTION:   I move that we ask the division to look into a Youth Only dedicated hunter type 
program, for youth ages 12-17 that would allow yearly participation with a harvest restriction (2 deer in 
a 3-year period). This is to be placed on the Action Log. 
 

Motion made by: Bryce Thurgood 
 Assigned to: Lindy Varney, Covy Jones and Bryan Christensen 
 Action: Under Study 
 Placed on Action Log: June 2, 2022 
 
Fall 2023 – Target Date – Special Use Permits on WMA’s – Guides and Outfitters – Non-consumptive user fee 
  
 MOTION:   I move that we ask the division to look into Guides and Outfitters obtaining special 
use permits on WMA’s and to look at implementing a fee for non-consumptive users. This is to be placed 
on the Action Log. 
 
 

Motion made by: Randy Dearth 
 Assigned to: Blair Stringham 
 Action: Under Study 



 2 

 Placed on Action Log: August 25, 2022 

 
Fall 2024 – Target Date – Increase Trapping Fee for Non-residents  

 
 MOTION:   I move that we ask the Division to look into a trap fee increase for non-residents 
for 2024. This is to be placed on the Action Log. 

  
Motion made by: Karl Hirst 

 Assigned to: Darren DeBloois 
 Action: Under Study 
 Placed on Action Log: January 3, 2023 
 
 
Fall 2024 – Target Date – Mandatory Tooth Reporting 

 
 MOTION:     I move that we ask the Division to look into mandatory tooth reporting. This is to be 
placed on the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Karl Hirst 
Assigned to: Dax Mangus 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 4, 2023 

 
 
Fall  2024 – Target Date – CWMU Recommendations Committee 
 

MOTION:   I move that we ask the division to form a CWMU Recommendations Committee to 
review the rule and bring recommendations back to the board in June 2024.  The committee should 
consider if the rule is equitable for both the public and the private parties.  It needs to be an incentive 
based program to encourage CWMU’s to fulfill antlerless harvest. Tools need to be in place to encourage 
CWMU operators and the division to obtain necessary harvest for unit objectives. The rule needs to 
address non-contiguous lands and set requirements for trade lands – land traded needs to be comparable 
to be fair to both the public and the operator. Trade lands need to be posted with a common sign such 
that the public can easily recognize it as such.  If public tags increase or decrease then CWMU tags 
should do the same. This is to be placed on the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Randy Dearth 
Assigned to: Chad Wilson 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 4, 2023 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 
1157 South Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 

The Board Meeting will stream live at https://youtube.com/live/eJBk4neaZal 
Revised 6-7-2023 

AGENDA 

Thursday June 8, 2023, 9:00 am 
 

1.  Approval of Agenda 
– Kevin Albrecht, Chairman 

ACTION 

2.  Approval of Minutes 
– Kevin Albrecht, Chairman 

ACTION 

3.  Old Business/Action Log 
– Randy Dearth, Vice-Chair 

CONTINGENT 

4.  DWR Update 
– J. Shirley, DWR Director 

INFORMATIONAL 

5.  Legislative Status Update 
– Kyle Maynard, Assistant Attorney General 
 
Rules to be impacted by Legislative Actions 
R657-5 – Taking Big Game 
R657-10 – Taking Cougar 
R657-11 – Taking Furbearer 
R657-33 – Taking Bear 
R657-37 – CWMU 
R657-42 – Fees, Exchange, Surrenders, Refunds 
R657-62 – Drawing Application Procedures 
R657-67 – Utah Hunter Mentoring Program 
R657-69 – Depredating Turkeys 

INFORMATIONAL 

6.  Wild Turkey Plan Revision and Recommendations – R657-54 
– Heather Talley, Upland Game Coordinator 

ACTION 

7.  Upland Game Recommendations – R657-6 
– Heather Talley, Upland Game Coordinator 

ACTION 

8.  Waterfowl Rule and Swan Hunt Recommendations 
– Heather Talley, Upland Game Coordinator 

ACTION 

9.  Live Game Birds Rule Amendments – R657-4 
– Dax Mangus, Big Game Coordinator 

ACTION 

10. Collection, Importation and Possession Rule Amendments – R657-3 
– Charles Lyons, Assistant Attorney General 

ACTION 

11. CWMU Variance Requests 
     – Chad Wilson, Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator 

ACTION 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

12.  Translocation Management Plan:  Desert Tortoise 
– Ann McLuckie, Wildlife Biologist 

ACTION 

13.  LOA Advisory Committee Recommendations 
     – Covy Jones, Wildlife Section Chief                 

ACTION 

14.  Election of Board Chair and Vice-Chair 
– Kevin Albrecht, Chairman 

ACTION 

15.  Other Business 
– Kevin Albrecht, Chairman 

CONTINGENT 

 
In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act - Persons needing special accommodations (including auxiliary communicative 
aids and services) for this meeting, should contact Staci Coons at 801-538-4718, giving her at least five working days’ notice. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

Draft 6/8/2023 
Wildlife Board Motions 

 

Following is a summary of Wildlife Board motions directing the Division to take action and the response to date: 

Fall 2022 – Target Date – Progress on changes to statute for the poaching of a swan 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look into changing statute to reflect a 7-year waiting 
period for poaching a swan and have the division report back. This is to be placed on the action log. 

 
Motion made by: Karl Hirst 
Assigned to: Wyatt Bubak  
Action: Under Study 
Placed on Action Log: December 2, 2021 

 
Fall 2022 – Target Date – Possibility of a 3-year season structure for Big Game seasons and hunter orange 
regulation reforms 

 

MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look into a 3-year season structure for big game 
season dates and the possibilities of hunter orange regulation reforms (including amount required, what 
other states allow etc.) This is to be placed on the action log. 
 

Motion made by: Bryce Thurgood  
Assigned to: Covy Jones and Wyatt Bubak  
Action: Under Study 
Placed on Action Log: December 2, 2021 

 
Fall 2022 – Target Date – Possibility of issuing 2 pt. or smaller buck deer tags to youth hunters 

 

MOTION: I move that we direct the division through the action log, to look at issuing 2pt. 
or smaller buck deer tags to youth hunters. That in the four-year period, between 14-18, they would 
have the potential to be guaranteed at least one hunt for a 2pt. buck and that those tags would not take 
away from any of the other tag allotments but be in addition to the tags already issued. We would ask 
the division to look at the impact that it would have on licensing and the herds as well as future youth 
hunters. Kevin Albrecht included with the action log item that the addition of a survey be used to see 
what that need is. 

 
Motion made by: Karl Hirst 
Assigned to: Lindy Varney and Covy Jones 
Action:  Under Study 
Placed on Action Log: January 4, 2022 
 

Fall 2023 - Target Date – Youth Only deer permit program 
 
MOTION: I move that we ask the division to look into a Youth Only dedicated hunter type 
program for youth ages 12-17 that would allow yearly participation with a harvest restriction (2 
deer in a 3-year period). 
 
Motion made by: Bryce Thurgood 
Assigned to: Lindy Varney, Covy Jones and Bryan Christensen 
Action: Under Study 
Placed on Action Log: June 2, 2022 
 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 
Fall 2023 – Target Date - Special Use Permits on WMA’s - Guides and Outfitters -Nonconsumptive user fee 
 

MOTION:     I move that we ask the division to look into Guides and Outfitters obtaining special use 
permits on WMA’s and to look at implementing a fee for non-consumptive users. This is to be placed 
on the Action Log 
 
Motion made by:  Randy Dearth 
Assigned to: Blair Stringham 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: August 25, 2022 
 

 
Fall 2023 – Target Date - Guiding Document for the Selection of Committees 
 

MOTION:     I move that the Division formulate a guiding document for the formation of committees 
that would include final approval coming from the Wildlife Board.  This is to be placed on the Action 
Log. 
 
Motion made by:  Wade Heaton 
Assigned to: Ashley Green 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: September 29, 2022 
 

Fall 2024 – Target Date – Increase Trapping Fee for Non-residents 
 

MOTION:     I move that we ask the Division to look into a trap fee increase for non-residents for 
2024. This is to be placed on the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Karl Hirst 
Assigned to: Darren DeBloois 
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: January 3, 2023 

 
 
 2024 – Target Date – 

 
MOTION:     I move that we ask the Division to look into mandatory tooth reporting. This is to be 
placed on the Action Log. 

Motion made by: Karl Hirst 
Assigned to:  
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 4, 2023 

 
 2024 – Target Date –  
 

MOTION:   I move that we ask the division to form a CWMU Advisory Committee to review 
the rule and bring recommendations back to the board in June 2024.  The committee should consider if 
the rule is equitable for both the public and the private parties.  It needs to be an incentive based program 
to encourage CWMU’s to fulfill antlerless harvest. Tools need to be in place to encourage CWMU 
operators and the division to obtain necessary harvest for unit objectives. The rule needs to address non-
contiguous lands and set requirements for trade lands – land traded needs to be comparable to be fair to 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 
both the public and the operator. Trade lands need to be posted with a common sign such that the public 
can easily recognize it as such.  If public tags increase or decrease then CWMU tags should do the same. 
This is to be placed on the Action Log. 

 
Motion made by: Randy Dearth 
Assigned to:  
Action: Under study 
Placed on Action Log: May 4, 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 
1157 South Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 

Summary of Motions 
 

1) Approval of Agenda (Action)  
  
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, seconded by Gary Nielson and passed unanimously.  
  
 MOTION:  I move that we approve the agenda.  

  
2) Approval of Minutes (Action)  

  
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Karl Hirst and passed unanimously.  
  

MOTION:  I move that we approve the minutes of the May 4, 2023 Wildlife 
Board Meeting as submitted.  

  
3) Wild Turkey Plan Revision and Recommendations – R657-54 (Action)  

  
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Gary Nielson and passed unanimously.     

MOTION:    I move that we approve the Wild Turkey plan and 
recommendations as presented by the Division  
    

 4)  Upland Game Recommendations – R657-6 (Action)  
  
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, seconded by Gary Nielson and passed unanimously.         
 

MOTION:   I move that we accept the Upland Game recommendations as 
presented by the Division.  

  
 5)   Waterfowl Rule and Swan Hunt Recommendations – R657-9 (Action)  
  

The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, and dies for lack of a second.       

MOTION:   I move that we approve the amended recommendation making the 
take of a trumpeter swan legal, but the possession be illegal.   

The following motion was made by, Bryce Thurgood, and dies for lack of a second.        

MOTION:   I move that if the quota reaches 10 trumpeter taken, then Public 
Shooting Grounds and Bear River Bird Refuge will be closed to hunting.   

The following motion was made by Wade Heaton, seconded by Randy Dearth and passed unanimously.      

MOTION:   I move that we approve the Division’s original recommendations as 
presented.   



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

6)   Live Game Birds Rule Amendment – R657-4 (Action)  
  
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Karl Hirst and passed unanimously.  
  

MOTION:   I move that we accept the Live Game Birds Rule amendments as 
presented.  
 

7) Collection, Importation and Possession Rule Amendments – R657-3 (Action)  
  
The following motion was made by Gary Nielson, seconded by Karl Hirst and passed unanimously.  
Wade Heaton was absent from the vote.  
  

MOTION:   I move that we approve as presented by the Division, the Collection, 
Importation and Possession Rule amendments.   
 

8) CWMU Variance Requests (Action)  
  
The following motion was made by Bryce Thurgood, seconded by Randy Dearth and passed with 
Chairman Albrecht breaking the tie.  Bret Selman, Wade Heaton and Gary Nielson opposed.   
  

MOTION:  I move that we deny the CWMU Variance Request until after the 
committee makes a recommendation and it goes through the process.    

  
9) Translocation Management Plan:  Desert Tortoise (Action)  

  
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, seconded by Gary Nielson and passed unanimously.  
  

MOTION:    I move that we approve the Translocation Management Plan for 
Desert Tortoise as presented by the Division.  
 

10)         Election of Board Chair and Vice-Chair (Action)  
  
The Board elected Randy Dearth as Chairman, and Gary Nielson as the Vice-Chairman.   
  
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 
1157 South Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 

Attendance 
 

Wildlife Board RAC Chairs 
Kevin Albrecht – Chair Karl Hirst Central – Brock McMillan 
Randy Dearth – Vice-Chair Bret Selman (virtual) Southern – Brayden Richmond 
J. Shirley – Executive Secretary Wade Heaton (virtual) Southeastern – Kent Johnson  
 Gary Nielson Northeastern – Brett Prevedel (online) 
 Bryce Thurgood (virtual) Northern – Brad Buchanan 
    

Division Personnel 
Mike Canning Mike Christensen Jim Christensen  
Kenny Johnson Staci Coons Rusty Robinson  
Chris Wood Paige Wiren Avery Cook  
Miles Hanberg (online) Kyle Maynard Ann McLuckie  
Ben Nadolski  Jason Jones Craig Walker  
Kevin Bunnell Heather Talley Devin Christensen   
Covy Jones Blair Stringham Brandon Baron  
Wyatt Bubak Lindy Varney Dale Lichty  
Riley Peck Chad Wilson Dallon Christensen  
Phil Tuttle Dr. Virginia Stout Hayley Pace  
    
    
    
    

Public Present 
Phil Crowther Waylon Pritchett  
Lynn Worwood Jorden Mattinson  
Gary Webb Angie Wonnacott  
Paula Richmond Troy Justensen  
Troy Burgess Cody Bassett  
Kirk Robinson Lonnie Brown  
   
  
  
   

 
  



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023, Eccles Wildlife Education Center 
1157 South Waterfowl Way, Farmington, Utah 

https:// https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eJBk4neaZaI 
 

00:13:50 Chairman Albrecht called the meeting to order, welcomed the audience, reminded 
everyone that the meeting is broadcast live, and asked the board members and RAC 
chairs to introduce themselves. Wade Heaton, Bryce Thurgood and Bret Selman 
attended the meeting virtually.   

00:15:17 1)  Approval of Agenda (Action) 
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, seconded by Gary Nielson and 
passed unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the agenda as presented. 

00:15:41  2)  Approval of Minutes (Action) 
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Karl Hirst and 
passed unanimously. 

MOTION: I move that we approve the minutes of the May 4, 2023 
Wildlife Board Meeting. 

00:16:17 
 
 

3)  Old Business/Action Log (Contingent) 
There was no old business or action log items to report.  

00:16:38 4)  DWR Update (Informational)  
Director J. Shirley gave Administrative Services, Aquatic, Habitat, Law 
Enforcement Outreach and Wildlife section updates.  Director Shirley thanked 
outgoing board members Kevin Albrecht and Karl Hirst for their service, and 
announced the two newly appointed board members, Kent Johnson and Paula 
Richmond.   

00:29:14 5)  Legislative Statue Updates (Informational) 
Chairman Albrecht announced that the board would allow public comments on this 
informational agenda item.  Assistant Attorney General Kyle Maynard gave a 
presentation titled, “2023 Legislative Update.” 

00:38:49 Board Questions   
There were no questions from the Board.  
Chairman Albrecht noted that no online public comments were collected for this 
agenda item, however he asked Director Shirley to speak to the updates.  

00:40:35 Public Comments 
Public comments were accepted at this time.  



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

00:45:52 Division Clarification 
Darren DeBloois provided Division clarification.  

00:49:43 Board Discussion 
The Board noted that, even given the legislative changes, there still are various rules 
and guidelines that cougar hunters must abide by.  
Chairman Albrecht commented that the new cougar hunting rules were created and 
passed by the Utah legislatures were enacted by statute. 
The Board agreed with the chairman that Utah’s public process is superior to other 
western states’.  Wade Heaton stated that the appointed Wildlife Board is 
preeminently qualified to make wildlife management decision, and urged the 
legislative body not to make wildlife management decisions, but to allow wildlife 
management decisions to move through the current public process. 

00:54:47 6)  Wild Turkey Plan Revision and Recommendations – R657-54 (Action) 
Upland Game Coordinator Heather Talley gave an overview of the video 
presentation that was posted on the Division’s website and provided clarification of 
the definition of an air gun as it applies to the house bill that passed legalizing air 
guns, and clarification on youth hunt permit allocation.  

00:57:23 Board/RAC Questions   
There were no questions from the Board or RAC chairs.  

00:57:49 Public Comments 
Director Shirley summarized the public comments received online. 

00:59:13 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs unanimously passed the plan revision and permit recommendations. 

01:00:40 Public Comments    
Public comments were accepted at this time. 

01:06:11 Division Clarification 
Heather Talley clarified concerns that were voiced during the public comment 
period.  

01:10:03 RAC Summaries 
Chairman Albrecht gave a summary of all the RAC motions.  

01:10:25 Board Discussion/Questions 
The Board noted the primary issues that were discussed during turkey committee 
meetings, and voiced support for the Division’s recommendations.   
The Board asked about the success rate percentage, and further voiced support for 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

the presented change to the number of permits.  
Chairman Albrecht asked the Board and the Division to monitor potential lethal 
disease outbreaks in the state’s turkey populations.   
The Board advocated for emergency and/or winter feeding efforts for turkey.  
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Gary Nielson and 
passed unanimously.  

MOTION:   I move that we approve the Wild Turkey plan and 
recommendations as presented by the Division.  

01:17:18 7)  Upland Game Recommendations (Action) 
Upland Game Coordinator Heather Talley gave clarification of the material 
presented in the video presentation that was posted on the Division’s website 

01:18:42 Board/RAC Questions 
The Board asked how many years it has been that efforts have been made to increase 
sharp-tailed grouse populations 

01:19:34 Public Comments 
Director Shirley summarized the public comments received online. 

01:21:13 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs voted to accept the Division’s recommendations.  

01:22:12 Public Comments    
There were no public comments on this agenda item. 

01:22:13 RAC Summaries 
Chairman Albrecht gave a summary of all the RAC motions. 

01:22:30 Board Questions/Discussion   
The Board acknowledged their support for youth hunts and permit allocation, and 
commented on the lethality of modern air gun technology  
Chairman Albrecht asked if youth could be mentored during the recommended 
upland game. 
The Board advocated for mentoring.  
Chairman Albrecht voiced support for robust sharp-tailed grouse management.  
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, seconded by Gary Nielson and 
passed unanimously. 

MOTION:            I move that we accept the Upland Game recommendations as 
presented by the Division.    

01:30:06 8)  Waterfowl Rule and Swan Hunt Recommendations – R657-9 (Action) 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

Migratory Bird Program Coordinator Jason Jones gave background information 
regarding swan harvest that supplemented the information in the prerecorded 
presentation that was posted on the Division’s website. He also explained the 
reasons for the Division’s recommendations.   

01:39:03 Board/RAC Questions   
The Board asked if someone takes a trumpeter swan and the bird is released at the 
time of check-in, if the 5-year waiting period would still apply in the Division’s 
recommendations; and also asked what the Division would do with seized swans.  
The Board asked about the trumpeter swan quota, and asked the Division if they 
think that the updated recommendation would deter the targeting of trumpeter 
swans. They further asked that if the Board accepts the recommendations, but it is 
later determined that the changes were not effective against deterring the targeting 
trumpeter swans, could and would the Division make new recommendations?   
The Board voiced support for the recommendations, however expressed doubt that 
the changes would be effective against targeting trumpeter swans.   
Bryce Thurgood virtually joined the meeting. 

01:45:43 Public Comments 
Director Shirley summarized the public comments received online. 

01:47:32 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs passed the permit recommendations with various stipulations. 

01:50:38 Public Comments    
Public comments were accepted at this time. 

02:00:47 Board Discussion/Questions 
The Board voiced dissent for the revised Division recommendation.    
Chairman Albrecht related a personal anecdote about a chance encounter with a 
member of the public, and voiced support for the Division’s recommendation to 
criminalize the take of a trumpeter swan. 
The Board suggested going back to the 2019 boundary. 
The Board supported the Division’s recommendation to make the take of a trumpeter 
swan illegal and advocated for hunter responsibility with regard to identifying 
targets, and also suggested setting quotas exclusively on some hunting units and not 
others. The Board also recognized that once a decision is made to make the take of 
trumpeter swan illegal, that decision would be hard to reverse, and also noted that 
the state’s swan hunt is for tundra swans, not trumpeter. 
The Board asked if analyzed feather isotope data could influence a change in the 
federally-determined quota of trumpeter swan take in Utah.  
Jason Jones provided prepared additional information on this agenda item.  
The Board commented that addressing the trumpeter swan targeting issue most 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

likely will happen in stages over time.  
Karl Hirst clarified his suggestion of applying a quota only to the Bear River and 
Public Shooting Grounds WMA,  
Chairman Albrecht asked Law Enforcement Chief Wyatt Bubak how the Division 
might approach the accidental take of a trumpeter swan should the Board vote to 
make that take illegal, and asked if a warning given to a hunter who has made 
contact with conservation officers could be escalated to an infraction should it be 
determined after the warning was issued that the hunter had targeted the trumpeter 
swan.  
The Board discussed closing the swan hunt, after the quota is reached, only on 
properties where there historically has been the majority of trumpeter swan take.  
The chairman asked Director Shirley to share his thoughts on this agenda item.  
The Board asked Director Shirley if the Division’s law enforcement would be 
capable of splitting the quota system, and asked why the Division has not enacted a 
boundary change.  
Wildlife Section Chief Covy Jones acknowledged that making this decision is not 
easy, reiterated the reason why the Division designed the recommended actions, and 
cautioned the Board against making an overreaction. 
The Board voiced support for boundary closures during the swan hunt in order to try 
and mitigate targeted take of trumpeter swan.  
Law Enforcement Chief Wyatt Bubak clarified that if harvest of a trumpeter swan 
were made illegal, it would require a legislative change to allow law enforcement to 
seize the tag of the hunter who unlawfully took the trumpeter. 
Vice-chairman Dearth objected to the modified definition of the word possession as 
interpreted in the Division’s amended recommendation.  
The Board asked Wildlife Chief Covy Jones to explain the Division’s reasoning for 
the original recommendation.  
The Board commented that the Division’s initial recommendation was much cleaner 
than the revised recommendation.   
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, and failed for a lack of a second.  

MOTION:   I move that we approve the amended recommendation 
making the take of trumpeter swan legal, but the possession be illegal.  
The following motion was made by Bryce Thurgood and failed for a lack of a 
second.  

MOTION:   I move that if the quota reaches 10 trumpeter taken then the 
Public Shooting Grounds and Bear River Bird Refuge will be closed to hunting.  
The following motion was made by Wade Heaton, seconded by Randy Dearth and 
passed unanimously. 

MOTION:   I move that we approve the Division’s original 
recommendation as presented.  



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

02:50:41 Lunch Break 

03:43:55 9)  Live Game Birds Rule Amendments – R657-4 (Action) 
Upland Game Project Leader Avery Cook gave an overview of the video 
presentation that was posted on the Division’s website  

03:46:49 Board/RAC Questions   
There were no questions from the Board or RAC chairs.  
Bret Selman joined the meeting electronically.   
Wade Heaton left the meeting.  

03:47:19 Public Comments 
Director Shirley summarized the public comments received online. 

03:47:56 Public Comments    
There were no public comments submitted at this time. 

03:47:58 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs unanimously passed the permit recommendations. 

03:48:40 RAC Summaries 
Chairman Albrecht gave a summary of all the RAC motions.  

03:48:53 Board Discussion/Questions 
The following motion was made by Randy Dearth, seconded by Karl Hirst and 
passed unanimously.  

MOTION:   I move that we accept the Live Game Birds rule amendments 
as presented.  

03:50:05 10)  Collection, Importation and Possession Rule Amendments – R657-3 (Action) 
Assistant Attorney General Kyle Maynard reviewed the suggested rule amendments. 

03:51:13 Board/RAC Questions   
There were no questions from the Board or RAC chairs.  

03:51:28 Public Comments 
Director Shirley summarized the public comments received online. 

03:53:40 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs unanimously passed the rule amendments. 

03:54:23 Public Comments    
Public comments were accepted at this time. 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

03:57:50 Division Clarification 
Wildlife Section Chief Covy Jones clarified the Division’s reasoning behind the 
proposed rule amendments. Covy invited a Utah Department of Agriculture 
representative who was in the audience to speak about the state’s rules regarding 
reindeer importation and possession. 

04:03:53 Board Discussion/Questions 
Chairman Albrecht shared that he has talked to domestic elk producers in Utah, and 
voiced support for the Division’s recommendations.  
The following motion was made by Gary Nielson, seconded by Karl Hirst and 
passed unanimously.  Wade Heaton was absent for the vote. 

MOTION:   I move that we approve as presented by the Division, the 
Collection, Importation and Possession Rule amendments.  

04:06:22 11)  CWMU Variance Requests (Action) 
      Private Lands/Public Wildlife Coordinator Chad Wilson gave some history of the 

variance requests, as well as the process through which the requests brought before 
the board underwent.     

04:10:18 Board/RAC Questions   
The Board asked about the hunting access restrictions on the land in question.  The 
Board referenced the fact that the Division will be reviewing the CWMU program 
next year.  

04:12:07 Public Comments 
Director Shirley summarized the public comments received online. 

04:13:10 RAC Recommendations   
The Southern, Southeastern, Northern and RACs passed the permit 
recommendations with various stipulations.  The Central and Northeastern RACs 
rejected both variance requests.  

04:16:07 Public Comments    
Public comments were accepted at this time. 

04:18:14 Division Clarification 
Chad Wilson reiterated that the variance requests in question are for noncontiguous 
lands, not tradelands.   

04:15:53 Board Discussion/Questions 
The Board asked about the noncontiguous parcels and ownership of land included in 
the variance requests.   
Wade Heaton stated that he sat on the CWMU Advisory Committee for several 
years, that the shared sentiment of the committee members was that if land in 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

question benefitted wildlife it should be considered, and that he believed that these 
two parcels of land benefit wildlife.  
Chairman Albrecht cautioned that if the Board voted in favor of the variance request 
it could set a precedence for future requests, and suggested that the Board vote on 
these requests after the CWMU rule has been reviewed. 
The Board asked what would be an acceptable distance, in miles, from the 
authorized CWMU for noncontiguous land in a variance request to be located.   
Wade Heaton noted that the CWMU Committee is a standing ongoing committee for 
a Division program, and voiced confusion over having, as is anticipated, a second 
working committee, not the CWMU Advisory Committee, review the entirety of the 
program.  Wade also encouraged the Board to vote in favor of the requests.  
Chairman Albrecht explained the difference between the CWMU Advisory 
Committee and the proposed working committee. 
Gary Nielson said that he too once sat on the CWMU committee, and that the 
advisors on that committee, when considering a variance request, heavily weighed if 
the land in question benefitted wildlife and the public.  He further expressed support 
for granting the variances.  
Bryce said that the CWMU rule is vague, and Wade said the role of the Board is to 
make decisions given, and within, vague situations.  
Randy expressed hesitance about voting in favor of the variance requests  
Chad offered the Division’s perspective on these particular requests.   
Wade reiterated that the CWMUs have already gone through a vetting process after 
which the Division concluded support for the variance requests.  
The Board asked questions about the property ownership. 
The following motion was made by Bryce Thurgood, seconded by Randy Dearth 
and passed with Chairman Albrecht breaking the tie. Bret Selman, Wade Heaton and 
Gary Nielson opposed.   

MOTION:   I move that we deny the CWMU Variance Request until after 
the committee makes a recommendation and it goes through the public process.  

04:47:55 12)  Translocation Management Plan:  Desert Tortoise (Action) 
Wildlife Biologist Ann McLuckie reviewed the purpose of the desert tortoise 
management plan.   

04:49:56 Board/RAC Questions   
The Board asked if desert tortoises respond well to translocation.   

04:51:04 Public Comments 
Director Shirley summarized the public comments received online. 

04:51:39 RAC Recommendations   
All RACs unanimously passed the permit recommendations. 



Utah Wildlife Board Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
 

04:51:57 Public Comments    
Public comments were accepted at this time. 

04:52:04 Board Discussion/Questions 
The following motion was made by Karl Hirst, seconded by Gary Nielson and 
passed unanimously.  Wade Heaton was absent from the vote.  

MOTION:   I move that we approve the Translocation Management Plan 
for Desert Tortoise as presented by the Division.  

 13)  LOA Advisory Committee Recommendations (Action) 

 14)  Election of Board Chair and Vice-Chair 
Chairman Kevin Albrecht explained the process for voting for a new board 
chairman and vice-chairman.  
Kevin Albrecht nominated Randy Dearth for board chairman.  Wade Heaton was 
absent from the vote.  
Randy Dearth nominated Bryce Thurgood and Gary Nielson for board vice-
chairman.  
Board members thanked Chairman Albrecht and Karl Hirst for their service.  
Chairman Albrecht shared some advice to incoming board members.   
Board members further thanked Kevin and Karl.  
Chairman Albrecht and Karl Hirst shared their appreciation for having served on 
the Wildlife Board. 
Wade Heaton rejoined the meeting and broke the vice-chairman vote tie by voting 
for Gary Nielson. 

05:06:52 15)  Other Business (Contingent) 
There was no other business to discuss.   

05:07:00 Meeting adjourned. 
 
 





1 
 

 
 
Internal Audit of the 2023 Expo Permit Program 

 
Dated August 12, 2023 

 
Background 
 
The Western Hunting and Conservation Expo was held in Salt Lake City from February 2 – 5, 
2023.  In accordance with Administrative Rule R657-55, an annual audit of the Expo permit 
program has been conducted.  This audit was not performed using generally accepted auditing 
standards, but is an internal audit designed by the Utah Division of Wildlife Resources 
(Division) Administrative Services Section to ensure compliance with applicable rules and 
contractual obligations. 
 
This audit report covers the 2023 Expo performance specifically, and uses historical data from 
the outset of the Expo permit program for some comparative items, as well as to ensure 
compliance with applicable rules and contractual terms. 
 
 
Overview 
 
As has been the case each year, the focus of this audit is to assist the Division and the Wildlife 
Board to ensure contract compliance.  Our report focuses on verifying that data is protected and 
secure, and that the drawing procedure used is random for the permits being issued.  
Additionally, we reviewed data regarding the number of applicants, success rates, and 
programming code related to drawing procedures and issuance of permits. We reviewed revenue 
amounts retained by the contractor for use on Division-approved projects.   We also reviewed the 
remainder of the revenue, which is to be used to benefit Utah conservation initiatives.  In 
addition to verifying revenue totals, we look to verify that the funds designated for Division-
approved projects, as well as the funds designated for other conservation initiatives, are kept 
separate from other funds in Federally insured bank accounts.  Finally, we seek to verify that 
funds are appropriately spent on Division-approved projects, or are used to benefit Utah 
conservation initiatives, as required. 
 
 
Review of handling personal and sensitive data 

 
The Division considers the handling of personal data and information a top priority.  Because the 
contractor conducting the draw is allowed limited access to DWR data for populating the hunt 
applications, we require adherence to protocols that will safeguard this data. 
 
The contractor has typically had two process components regarding sensitive and confidential 
data from the applicants.  For these purposes, sensitive and confidential data is defined as social 
security number, driver’s license information, height, weight, gender, and hair/eye color.   
 
Applications are 100% electronic now with no paper forms used to apply.  Processing and 
shredding paper applications, along with the associated security concerns, have been eliminated.   



2 
 

The second process component is the handling of electronic data that is used in the electronic 
application process.  Certain data elements are used during the application process for customer 
lookups into the Division database.  This data transmission is through a secure socket layer using 
128 bit encryption. Once the customer information is retrieved, no sensitive information is stored 
in the contractor database.  The contractor cannot retrieve SSN or DL from the database at any 
time; only enter it as needed.     
 
The Division monitored the processes of data collection and input, securing of personal and 
confidential data received, and performance of the actual draw process.  The contractor 
completed a third party system scan, and Payment Card Industry (PCI) self-assessment 
questionnaire and attestation prior to the application period going live. 
 
No compliance issues were identified by the Division in 2023 for securing personal data.  
 
 
Review of the drawing process 
 
Division of Wildlife/Division of Technology Services personnel completed an extensive review 
of the draw processes used by GraySky Technologies, the subcontractor selected by SFW to 
conduct the Expo permit drawing. The Division is represented by technical experts from the 
Utah Department of Government Operations, Division of Technology Services, who review the 
following: 
  
1) The process of the draw is reviewed for its soundness. 
2) The database structure is reviewed to make sure that a customer can’t flood a certain hunt by 

making multiple entries for that hunt. 
3) A review of the code is conducted to make sure that there is no chance that a seeded record 

could exist in the database prior to the assignment of random numbers.  This is done to 
ensure that the result table is empty and no records can be inserted independently of the 
drawing code.  This ensures that a record with an abnormally low random number isn’t 
placed in the table thereby guaranteeing a permit to that record. 

4) The code is reviewed to ensure that all records are treated equally in the process that assigns 
random numbers to the entries.  Care is given to make sure that when the random numbers 
are being assigned, no records are identified to get a number other than a random number 
which is generated by the system.  

5) The code is then reviewed for inserts that may occur after the drawing to make sure that a 
secured opportunity record is not placed in the result table after the assignment of random 
numbers takes place. 
 

This was an exhaustive and thorough review; no compliance issues were identified in 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

 
Conducting the Draw 
 
The actual drawing was conducted at the Division Office in Salt Lake City on February 7, 2023.   
We had essential staff from the Division, technical representatives from the Department of 
Government Operations, DNR, GraySky Technologies, MDF and SFW, and the public present in 
person.  The draw was then conducted by GraySky Technologies where the following occurred: 
 
1) An impromptu passphrase was given to the GraySky representative and was witnessed as 

typed into the code prior to beginning the draw process. Later this same passphrase was 
verified by all in attendance to display on the result page to ensure the code reviewed by the 
Division was the actual code used during the draw. 

2) The draw was then run assigning random numbers to applicants hunt choice entries and then 
sorted in descending order. 

3) The results of the draw were printed and immediately given to a Division representative to 
ensure that there were no edits to the results table.  

4) This list was then given to the Division Law Enforcement and Licensing sections to validate 
eligibility before any results were posted. 

5) Applicants selected through the draw to receive multiple permits were contacted by the 
Division and asked to select a single permit.  The unclaimed permits were issued to 
alternates. 
 

The passphrase was witnessed being added to the code, and the same passphrase was verified at 
the conclusion of the draw.  Results were instantly printed and the process to validate began 
immediately.   

           
Three applicants drew multiple permits in 2023; each had to choose which permit to keep and the 
other permits were reallocated to alternates. There were no issues with eligibility.  
 
No compliance issues were identified by the Division in 2023. 

 
 

Note about Random Drawings 
 

In any truly random drawing there always seems to be a few “lucky” individuals.  Random is not 
an assurance that an event will be spread evenly across a population, or distributed equally 
among participants.  Statistically, when randomness is discussed it is always possible to view the 
final result and pick out certain trends.  The key to these trends is that results cannot be predicted 
prior to the event or drawing.  This is the very essence of randomness.   

There were no abnormalities observed in the 2023 drawing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 
 

 
 
 
Draw Related Information 
 
The Division reviewed data from the Expo regarding attendance, application numbers, and 
success rates.  The required attendance of 10,000 people was met in 2023, with nearly 63,000 
being reported.  There were 19,565 unique applicants in 2023, which was an increase from 2022.   
 
There were no compliance issues with attendance in 2023. 
 
 
Applicant data for years 2007-2023 is as follows: 
 

Year Applicants Applications Resident Nonresident 
Gross 
Revenue@ $5 
per app 

2007 10,527 205,462 163,054 42,408 $1,027,310  
2008 8,745 138,988 116,465 22,523 $694,940  
2009 9,927 169,988 139,748 29,375 $845,970  
2010 9,700 165,866 139,920 25,946 $847,285  
2011 12,154 196,360 170,539 25,821 $981,800  
2012 13,388 207,870 179,077 28,793 $1,039,350  
2013 14,043 197,312 173,192 24,120 $986,560  
2014 14,148 206,506 178,250 28,256 $1,032,530  
2015 14,910 228,530 192,420 36,110 $1,142,650  
2016 15,507 233,210 195,973 37,237 $1,166,050  
2017 16,127 247,148 204,016 43,132 $1,235,740  
2018 17,399 280,472 230,155 50,317 $1,402,360  
2019 17,320 292,785 232,143 60,642 $1,463,925  
2020 17,945 306,612 236,661 69,951 $1,533,060  
2021 21,680 424,206 263,019 161,187 $2,121,030  
2022 17,255 374,935 291,050 83,885 $1,874,675  
2023 19,565 435,914 338,061 97,853 $2,179,570  

 
 
Resident versus Nonresident Success 
 
Data was reviewed comparing the number of resident applications to nonresident applications.  
Success rates are as follows:  78% of the applications were submitted by Utah residents who 
drew 160 permits or 80% of the total.  22% of applications were submitted by nonresidents who 
drew 40 permits or 20% of the total.   
 
There were no anomalies identified in 2023. 



5 
 

           
 
Draw Probability Statistics 
 
The Expo offers a limited number of permits annually and attracts exponentially more applicants 
who compete for them through a secure and random draw process.  It should be noted that this 
dynamic implies a statistically low probability of obtaining a permit.  While the draw odds are 
not a controllable variable or concern of the Division, we appreciate and acknowledge the 
expediency with which this information is made available to the public.    
 
 
License Sales 
 
The Division requires that anyone applying for a permit at the Expo have a valid hunting or 
combination license at the time of application.  To ensure compliance, the computer 
programming will not allow applicants to apply without a valid license in the system.  For the 
Expo in 2023 all licenses were sold online.  
 
There were no compliance issues with license sales in 2023.  
 
 
 
Application Revenue  
  
For 2023, the Expo accepted applications from December through the end of the Expo, which 
was held from February 2 - 5, 2023.  The draw processed 435,914 applications, generating 
$2,179,570 in gross application revenue.   
 
 
Use of Application Revenue for Division-Approved Wildlife Projects (“$1.50 Account”) 
 
The retained portion of application revenue allowable for use on Division-approved projects is 
$1.50 per application, or $653,871.00 in 2023.  This revenue was split 50/50 between SFW and 
MDF, with each organization receiving $326,935.50.  This initial deposit was verified in a 
federally insured bank account for both MDF and SFW.  These funds will need to be spent on 
Division-approved projects, or transferred to the Division by August 1, 2025.   
 
The Division tracks all funds spent on Division-approved projects or transferred to the Division 
to be able to report actual numbers each year. To meet the contractual obligation in 2023, all 
project revenue collected in 2021 must be spent or transferred to the division before August 1, 
2023.  The 2021 funds have been spent entirely as shown in the table below, with more project 
detail in attachment 1.   
 
Groups should ensure DWR approved projects are paid from their intended source account.  At 
closeout we identified a payment from the $1.50 account that SFW intended from their $3.50 
source.  Because it was already approved by the Division, the payment was preserved in situ.     
 
 

 



6 
 

 
Table 1 - Revenue and Expenditures Division-Approved Projects 

 

Org 
Carry Over 

Project Revenue 

New Project 
Revenue 

2023 

Total Project 
Revenue 
Available 

Project 
Expenditures 

During 
Current 

Audit Year 

Projects 
Billed in 

FY23 

Remaining 
Funds 

Verified 
Bank 

Balance 

MDF $325,529.16 $326,935.50 $652,464.66 $286,770.00 $311,259.79 $54,434.87 

SFW $386,493.41 $326,935.50 $713,428.91 $140,000.00 $27,748.70 $545,680.21 

Total $425,251.57 $653,871.00 $1,365,893.57 $426,770.00 $339,008.49 $600,115.08 
 
 
 
MDF 
Carry Over Revenue for Division-Approved Projects   $325,529.16 
New Project Revenue for Division-Approved Projects 2023   $326,935.50 
Project Expenditures During Current Audit Year                                ($286,770.00) 
Projects Paid to DWR but not Cleared     ($311,259.79) 
 
Remaining Funds Adjusted Bank Statement Balance                $54,434.87 
 
 
SFW  
Carry Over Revenue for Division-Approved Projects             $386,493.41 
New Project Revenue for Division-Approved Projects 2023   $326,935.50 
Project Expenditures During Current Audit Year                     ($140,000.00) 
Projects Paid to DWR but not Cleared      ($27,748.70) 
  
Remaining Funds Adjusted Bank Statement Balance       $545,680.21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 
 

 
Use of Application Revenue for Contractor-Approved Conservation Initiatives (“$3.50 
Account”) 
 
The retained portion of application revenue allowable for support of contractor-approved 
policies, programs, projects, and personnel that support conservation initiatives in Utah is $3.50 
per application, or $1,525,699.00 in 2023.  Of these funds, $422,451.04 were spent by SFW on 
expenses related to advertising expo permits, accepting expo permit applications, credit card 
fees, and conducting the actual expo permit draw, all in concert with the Western Hunting and 
Conservation Expo.  The remaining $1,103,247.78 of these funds were split 50/50 between MDF 
and SFW, with each organization receiving $551,623.98.  Bank records and project expenditures 
were reviewed.  SFW has expended all 2021 and 2022 revenue, and has $529,868.35 remaining 
of 2023 revenue for Utah conservation initiatives.  MDF has expended all 2021 revenue and has 
$731,901.88 remaining of 2022-2023 revenue for Utah conservation initiatives.  A list of these 
conservation initiatives for both groups can be found in Attachment 2.  The deposit and required 
balance were verified in a federally-insured bank account held separate from other funds for both 
SFW and MDF.  See attachment 2 for additional expenditure detail.  
 
 

Table 2 - Revenue and Expenditures Contractor-Approved Projects  
 

Org 
Carry Over 

Project Revenue 
New Project 

Revenue 2023 

Total Project 
Revenue 
Available 

Project 
Expenditures 

During 
Current Audit 

Year 

Remaining 
Funds 

Verified Bank 
Balance 

MDF $823,606.91 $551,623.98 $1,375,230.80 $643,329.01 $731,901.88 

SFW $539,529.81 $551,623.98 $1,091,153.70 $561,285.44 $529,868.35 

Total $1,363,136.72 $1,103,247.78 $2,466,384.50 $1,204,614.45 $1,261,770.23 
 
MDF 
Carry Over Revenue for Contractor-Approved Initiatives         $823,606.91    
New Revenue for Contractor-Approved Initiatives 2023     $551,623.98 
Project Expenditures During Current Audit Year                               ($643,329.01) 
 
Remaining Funds Verified Bank Statement Balance               $731,901.88 
 
 
SFW  
Carry Over Revenue for Contractor-Approved Initiatives            $539,529.81 
New Revenue for Contractor-Approved Initiatives 2023        $551,623.98 
Project Expenditures During Current Audit Year                             ($561,285.44) 
 
Remaining Funds Verified Bank Statement Balance   $529,868.35 
 



8 
 

 
 
Conclusions 
 
The measures in place to ensure that data are secure and that any unauthorized external access is 
prevented served to safeguard information once again in 2023.  Third party penetration scans 
were completed which enhance system security.  PCI self-assessments were completed and 
signed prior to the application system going live. With data being under constant threat, creating 
processes and systems that are up to the challenge of securing information remains critical.  We 
believe that the measures set in place by SFW, MDF, and GraySky ensured data was properly 
secured.  Our review of the programming code satisfied the Division that the drawing was 
conducted in a random, transparent, and consistent manner.   
 
We saw applications and attendance increase in 2023.      
 
Additional oversite and program requirements in recent years have increased the Expo’s positive 
impact on the ground statewide.  Project revenues for both Division-approved projects and 
contractor approved projects were verified by bank statements, and expenses were supported 
with the appropriate documentation.  These process enhancements make reporting the balances 
and expenditures transparent.   
 
Revenue from expo permit application fees has continued to fund numerous efforts that benefit 
wildlife habitat, wildlife species, and hunters in Utah.  This funding is an important component 
of the conservation work that has improved our state’s wildlife populations and made Utah an 
outstanding place to hunt.  We look forward to more beneficial work into the future.   
 
We would like to thank Sportsmen for Fish and Wildlife and the Mule Deer Foundation for their 
time, prompt responses, and their willingness to provide the information requested for the 
preparation of the audit.  Their information was clearly presented and very much appreciated. If 
there are questions regarding this report, please contact me at 801-550-8349. 
 
 
 
Kenneth Johnson 
Administrative Services Chief 
Utah Division of Wildlife Resources 
 
 

cc:       J. Shirley, Director 
            Randy Dearth, Board Chair 
            Gary Nielsen, Vice Chair 
            Utah Wildlife Board Members 
            Troy Justensen, Sportsmen for Fish and Wildlife 
            Joel Pedersen, Mule Deer Foundation 
           
 
 
Attachments: 
1. How Revenue has been spent Division-Approved Projects 
2. How Revenue has been spent Contractor-Approved Projects  
3. Draw Process Roll Sheet  
4. Current Expo Rule R657-55 
 



9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



How revenue from each year has been spent
Division Approved Projects Mule Deer Foundation 

2021 Revenue 318,155.00$   
5558 Thistle Creek Watershed Restoration Phase 2 2022 13,243.21$        
5561 North Sheeprocks Watershed Restoration Phase 2 2022 15,000.00$        
5568 Manti-La Sal Healthy Forest Restoration 2022 15,000.00$        
5580 Sanpete Face NEPA Analysis (Formerly Skyline West) 2022 15,000.00$        
5581 Upper Provo Watershed Restoration Phase 6 2022 20,000.00$        
5613 Richard Mountain Fire Seeding 2022 10,000.00$        
5621 Mill Hollow Aspen Restoration Phase II 2022 15,000.00$        
5636 Petty Mountain Restoration Project 2022 10,000.00$        
5647 Strawberry Ridge Vegetation Project - Stand Exams 2022 10,000.00$        
5687 Bookcliffs East Water Developments Phase 2 2022 8,412.50$          
5690 Bookcliffs West Water Developments Phase 2 2022 2,671.87$          
5692 USFS Guzzlers 2022 15,000.00$        
5699 Bull Pen water development 2022 2,000.00$          
5722 Sevier plateau guzzlers 2022 5,000.00$          
5727 East Fork Fire Seeding FY2022 2022 10,000.00$        
5736 Northern Region Browse Scalping 2022 35,000.00$        
5779 Fremont River Ranger District Ponds 2022 7,500.00$          
5794 Utah Wildlife Migration Initiative 2022 65,588.50$        
5800 FY22 DeerFawn/Adult Survival and Condition 2022 43,738.92$        

318,155.00$      
All 2021 Funds Expended

2022 Revenue 281,201.25$   
5800 FY22 DeerFawn/Adult Survival and Condition 2022 714.08$              
5748 Church Hills Pipeline and Water Enhancement Project 2022 7,500.00$          
5899 Logan Canyon/Left hand fork Juniper Project - Phase 1 2023 27,000.00$        
6171 FY23 Deer Fawn/Adult Survival and Condition 2023 30,000.00$        
6056 Utah Wildlife Migration Initiative 2023 73,750.00$        
5893 Burnt Beaver Phase V 2023 80,000.00$        
5939 Stansbury Mountains Big Game Habitat Improvement FY23 2023 23,478.01$        
5918 Eastern La Sals Watershed Restoration Phase II 2023 38,759.16$        

281,201.25$      
All 2022 Funds Expended

2023 Revenue 326,935.50$   
5918 Eastern La Sals Watershed Restoration Phase II 2023 6,240.84$          
5920 Salina Creek Ecosystem Restoration Phase 4 2023 40,000.00$        
6043 Upper Price River Watershed 2023 10,000.00$        
6626 Resource Analysis and Data Discovery Tool (RADD Tool) 2024 25,000.00$        
6095 North Grouse Creek Habitat Restoration 2024 20,000.00$        
6520 Bear River Watershed Resilience Phase 4 2024 14,380.00$        
6694 Anthro/Avintaquin Lop and Scatter 2024 15,000.00$        
6530 Eagle Mountain Wildlife Migration Corridor Preservation FY24 2024 98,000.00$        
6537 Central Mountains (Nebo) Big Game Winter Habitat Restoration 2024 25,000.00$        
6709 North Hills BLM #1 Big Game Guzzler 2024 18,879.79$        

272,500.63$      
Remaining Balance 2023 54,434.87$     

Remaining Balance 54,434.87$     



Division Approved Projects Sportsmen for Fish and Wildlife 

2021 Revenue 318,155.00$   
5504 Jensen Property Purchase 2021 52,364.69$        
5634 Mount Pleasant Twin Creek Habitat Improvement Project 2022 6,885.00$          
5784 Quichapa Lake Hydrology and Vegetation Enhancement (Phase 2) 2022 56,983.00$        
5641 Upland Habitat Enhancement, Vegetation Management and Wildlife 2022 15,000.00$        
5793 Purchase Pheasants for Youth Hunt FY22 2023 10,000.00$        
5859 Book Cliffs Bighorn Sheep Disease Protection 2023 24,000.00$        
5887 Herbert Institute Wildlife Research Project 2023 50,000.00$        
5809 Bighorn Sheep Specialist 2023 8,468.00$          
5875 FY22 CA Quail Trap and Transplant 2022 3,250.00$          
5784 Quichapa Lake Hydrology and Vegetation Enhancement (Phase 2) 2022 55,748.77$        
5651 OBWMA Upland/Wetland enhancement FY22 2022 17,000.00$        
5763 OBWMA Water control structure replacement 2022 10,000.00$         
5714 Richfield Upland Game and Waterfowl Management Project Phase VIII 2022 8,455.54$          

318,155.00$      
All 2021 Funds Expended

2022 Revenue 281,201.25$   
5714 Richfield Upland Game and Waterfowl Management Project Phase VIII 2022 10,544.46$        
5701 FY22 Northern WMA Carp control 2022 4,000.00$          
6209 FY23 Bighorn Sheep Specialist (SFW) 2023 47,912.08$        

62,456.54$        
Remaining Balance 2022 218,744.71$   

2023 Revenue 326,935.50$   
Remaining Balance 2022 326,935.50$   

Remaining Balance 545,680.21$   



10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



How revenue from each year has been spent
Contractor Approved Projects Mule Deer Foundation 

2021 Revenue 595,141.86$   
5897 Cinnamon Creek Acquisition 2022 191,161.31$      

NAWEOA Law Enforcement Conference Sponsorship 2023 10,000.00$        
4819 Burnt Beaver Phase II 2023 82,319.00$        
6597 West Emery County Watershed Restoration 2023 50,000.00$        
6474 Mahogany Ridge Bullhog Phase II 2024 100,000.00$      
6536 Twelve Mile Watershed Restoration Project FY 24 2024 100,000.00$      
6539 Thistle Creek Watershed Restoration - Phase 3 2024 30,000.00$        
6617 Eastern La Sals Watershed Restoration Project phase III 2024 31,661.55$        

595,141.86$      
All 2021 Funds Expended

2022 Revenue 419,626.36$   
6617 Eastern La Sals Watershed Restoration Project phase III 2024 37,348.46$        
6541 Wasatch (Sheepcreek) Big Game Winter Habitat Restoration FY24 2024 12,000.00$        
6568 North Sheeprocks Watershed Restoration FY 24 2024 25,000.00$        
6496 Lost Creek Collaborative Phase 2 2024 100,000.00$       
6499 Lou Springs Wet Meadow and Sage Brush Habitat Restoration 2024 20,000.00$        
6543 Zion Migration Corridor Habitat Improvement Phase IV 2024 20,000.00$        
6563 Thousand Lakes Habitat Improvement Phase III 2024 25,000.00$        

239,348.46$      
Remaining Balance 2022 180,277.90$   

2023 Revenue 551,623.98$   
Remaining Balance 2023 551,623.98$   

Total Remaining Balance 731,901.88$   

Contractor Approved Projects Sportsmen for Fish and Wildlife

2021 Revenue 595,141.86$   
Teal Lake improvements 2022 19,044.24$        
Ogden Bay water pumps 2022 4,191.86$          
Wild Horse Bench Fence 2022 37,620.00$        
Predator Management 2022 65,292.54$        
WAFWA Sage Grouse conference 2022 1,000.00$          
Henry Mountain Water improvement 2022 1,400.00$          
Wheelchair in the Wild pheasant hunt 2022 1,320.00$          
Pheasant Facility 2022 265,424.79$      
Fish Lake Marina 2022 80,000.00$        

5908 Farmington Bay Dike-line Restoration 2023 28,750.00$        
6029 Ogden Bay WMA Upland/Wetland enhancement FY23 2023 1,352.21$          
6039 FY23 Northern Utah WMA Carp Control 2023 3,000.00$          
6064 Mitigation for Willard Spur WMA Parking lot expansion project 2023 17,500.00$        
6073 Harold Crane Center Dike Repair 2023 69,246.22$        

595,141.86$      
All 2021 Funds Expended

2022 Revenue 419,626.36$   
6073 Harold Crane Center Dike Repair 2023 12,003.78$        
6083 Ogden Bay WMA East dike restoration II 2023 40,000.00$        
6057 Richfield Upland Game and Waterfowl Management Project Phase VIIII 2023 17,500.00$        
5945 Habitat Specialist Position 2023 7,427.13$          
6154 Purchase Pheasants for Youth Hunt FY23 2023 10,000.00$        
5976 Upland Habitat Enhancement, Vegetation Management and Wildlife Technicians Salt       2023 5,000.00$          



5908 Farmington Bay Dike-line Restoration 2023 28,750.00$        
6029 Ogden Bay WMA Upland/Wetland enhancement FY23 2023 18,000.00$        
6039 FY23 Northern Utah WMA Carp Control 2023 3,000.00$          
6064 Mitigation for Willard Spur WMA Parking lot expansion project 2023 17,500.00$        
6073 Harold Crane Center Dike Repair 2023 81,250.00$        
6083 Ogden Bay WMA East dike restoration II 2023 40,000.00$        
6057 Richfield Upland Game and Waterfowl Management Project Phase VIIII 2023 17,500.00$        

Wild Horse Bench Fence 2023 30,096.00$        
Wheelchair in the Wild pheasant hunt 2023 1,950.00$          
SFW Upland Game Program 2023 85,861.96$        
Wasatch School Chukar Hunt 2023 2,175.00$          
Steve Miller Veteran Hunt 2023 1,612.49$          

419,626.36$      
All 2022 Funds Expended

2023 Revenue 551,623.98$   
KSL Outdoors Conservation Education 2023 21,755.63          

21,755.63          
Remaining Balance 2023 529,868.35$   

Remaining Balance 529,868.35$   



11 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

On Tuesday, February 7, 2023 the electronic random drawing for the 200 Expo permits will take 
place at the Utah Division of Wildlife Resources located at 1594 West North Temple, Salt Lake 
City, Utah. These permits were awarded to the Western Hunting & Conservation Expo by the 
Utah Wildlife Board. 

The following are witnesses of the drawing and were present during the entire process. Once 
the successful applicants have been drawn, all names will be given to the Division of Wildlife 
Resources Law Enforcement. The names will be checked for any compact violations and will be 
deemed eligible by the Division of Wildlife and the successful applicants will be notified by mail. 

 

Start Time: 10:09 am 

End Time: 10:17 am 

PASSCODE: Hunt with your kids 

PRINT NAME   ATTENDANCE   

Lindy Varney   In-person   DWR 

Greg Evans   In-person   DWR 

Brian Swaner  In-person   DWR 

Rob Gray   In-person   Grayskytech

 

mailto:gregevans@utah.gov
mailto:bswaner@utah.gov


PRINT NAME   ATTENDANCE

Ashley Green  In-person   DWR 

Cory Anderson  In-person   Public 

Troy Justensen  In-person   SFW 

Riley Peck   In-person   DWR 

Kenny Johnson  In-person   DWR 

Chris Carling   In-person   SFW 

J shirley   In-person   DWR 

Mike Canning   In-person   DWR 

Jeremy Wither   In-person   Public 

 

 

 

  

mailto:ashleygreen@utah.gov
mailto:kennyjohnson@utah.gov


12 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Administrative rule R657-55 

Wildlife Expo Permits 

KEY: wildlife, wildlife permits 

Date of Enactment or Last Substantive Amendment: November 9, 2020 

Notice of Continuation: April 6, 2020 

Authorizing, and Implemented or Interpreted law: 23-14-18; 23-14-19 

R657-55-1. Purpose and Authority. 

(1) Under the authority of Sections 23-14-18 and 23-14-19 of the Utah Code, this rule 
provides the standards and requirements for issuing wildlife expo permits. 
(2) Wildlife expo permits are authorized by the Wildlife Board and issued by the division to a 
qualified conservation organization for purposes of generating revenue to fund wildlife 
conservation activities in Utah and attracting and supporting a regional or national wildlife 
exposition in Utah. 
(3) The selected conservation organization will conduct a random drawing at an exposition 
held in Utah to distribute the opportunity to receive wildlife expo permits. 
(4) This rule is intended as authorization to issue one series of wildlife expo permits per year 
to a qualified conservation organization. 

R657-55-2. Definitions. 

(1) Terms used in this rule are defined in Section 23-13-2. 
(2) In addition: 

(a) "Conservation organization" means a 26 U.S.C. § 501(c)(3) tax exempt, nonprofit 
chartered institution, corporation, foundation, or association founded for the purpose of 
promoting wildlife conservation. 
(b) "Special nonresident expo permit" means one wildlife expo permit for each once-in-a-
lifetime species that is only available to a nonresident hunter legally eligible to hunt in Utah. 
(c) "Wildlife exposition" means a multi-day event held within the state of Utah that is 
sponsored by one or more wildlife conservation organizations, acting through a single 
conservation organization, as their national or regional convention or event that is open to 
the general public and designed to draw nationwide attendance of more than 10,000 
individuals. The wildlife exposition may include wildlife conservation fund raising 
activities, outdoor exhibits, retail marketing of outdoor products and services, public 
awareness programs, and other similar activities. 
(d) "Wildlife exposition audit" means an annual review by the division of the conservation 
organization's processes used to handle applications for expo permits and conduct the 
drawing, the protocols associated with collecting and using client data, the revenue 
generated from expo permit application handling fees, and the expenditure of designated 
expo permit application handling fee revenue on division-approved projects. 
(e) "Wildlife expo permit" means a permit which: 



(i) is authorized by the Wildlife Board to be issued to successful applicants through a 
drawing or random selection process conducted at a Utah wildlife exposition; and 
(ii) allows the permittee to hunt the designated species on the designated unit during the 
respective season for each species as authorized by the Wildlife Board. 

(f) "Wildlife expo permit series" means a single package of permits to be determined by the 
Wildlife Board for: 

(i) deer; 
(ii) elk; 
(iii) pronghorn; 
(iv) moose; 
(v) bison; 
(vi) mountain goat; 
(vii) desert bighorn sheep; 
(viii) rocky mountain bighorn sheep; 
(ix) wild turkey; 
(x) cougar; or 
(xi) black bear. 

(g) "Secured opportunity" means the opportunity to receive a specified wildlife expo permit 
that is secured by an eligible applicant through the exposition drawing process. 
(h) "Successful applicant" means an individual selected to receive a wildlife expo permit 
through the drawing process. 

R657-55-3. Wildlife Expo Permit Allocation. 

(1) The Wildlife Board may allocate wildlife expo permits after May 1 of the year preceding 
the wildlife exposition. 
(2) Wildlife expo permits shall be issued as a single series to one conservation organization. 
(3) The number of wildlife expo permits authorized by the Wildlife Board shall be based on: 

(a) the species population trend, size, distribution, and long-term health; 
(b) the hunting and viewing opportunity for the general public, both short and long term; 
and 
(c) a percentage of the permits available to nonresidents in the annual big game drawings 
matched by a proportionate number of resident permits. 

(4) Wildlife expo permits, including special nonresident expo permits, shall not exceed 200 
total permits. 
(5) Wildlife expo permits designated for the exposition each year shall be deducted from the 
number of public drawing permits. 

R657-55-4. Obtaining Authority to Distribute Wildlife Expo Permit Series. 

(1)(a) Except as provided in Subsection (b), the wildlife expo permit series is issued for a 
period of five years. 

(b) The original five-year term may be renewed for an additional period not to exceed five 
years, provided: 

(i) the conservation organization, Division of Purchasing and General Services 
procurement officer, Wildlife Board, and division mutually agree in writing to the 
renewal term; and 



(ii) the procurement officer determines in writing pursuant to Section 63G-6a-1204(7) 
that the renewal term is in the division's best interest and places the writing in the 
conservation organization's procurement file. 

(2)(a) The wildlife expo permit series is available to eligible conservation organizations for 
distribution through a drawing or other random selection process held at a wildlife exposition 
in Utah open to the public. 

(b) The division may unilaterally discontinue or suspend issuing the wildlife expo permit 
series at: 

(i) the conclusion of the original five-year contract term or renewal term described in 
Subsection (1) and prior to issuance of a contract under this rule; or 
(ii) any time during the term of a contract when in the interest of wildlife conservation, 
management, or compliance with law. 

(3) Prior to expiration of a current wildlife exposition term or renewal term, the division may 
issue through the Division of Purchasing and General Services a request for proposal 
consistent with the Procurement Code in Title 63G, Chapter 6a of the Utah Code to solicit bids 
from conservation organizations desiring to distribute the wildlife expo permit series at a 
wildlife exposition. 
(4) The request for proposal will solicit information relevant to successfully conducting a 
wildlife exposition, competently distributing the expo permit series, protecting confidential 
personal information acquired in distributing permits, and generating revenue for wildlife 
conservation in Utah, including: 

(a) the name, address and telephone number of the conservation organization; 
(b) a description of the conservation organization's mission statement; 
(c) documentation establishing the conservation organization meets the definitional criteria 
in R657-55-2(2)(a) and is eligible to submit a proposal; 
(d) the name of the president or other individual responsible for the administrative 
operations of the conservation organization; 
(e) a detailed business plan describing how the: 

(i) proposed wildlife exposition will take place; 
(ii) proposed wildlife exposition will satisfy the definitional criteria in R657-55-2(2)(c); 
(iii) wildlife expo permit drawing procedures will be carried out; and 
(iv) confidential personal information acquired in the drawing process will be 
safeguarded; 

(f) the conservation organization and any partnering entities' ability, including past 
performance in marketing conservation permits under R657-41, to effectively plan and 
complete the wildlife exposition; 
(g) the conservation organization's commitment to use expo permit handling fee revenue to 
benefit protected wildlife in Utah; and 
(h) historical contributions of the conservation organization and any partnering entities to 
the conservation of wildlife in Utah. 

(5) Proposals submitted in response to a request for proposal under Subsection (4) will be 
processed, evaluated, and acted upon consistent with the procurement requirements set forth in 
Title 63G, Chapter 6a of the Utah Code. 
(6) The conservation organization receiving the wildlife expo permit series must: 

(a) require each wildlife expo permit applicant to possess a current Utah hunting or 
combination license before applying for a wildlife expo permit; 



(b) select successful applicants for wildlife expo permits by drawing or other random 
selection process in accordance with law, provisions of this rule, and orders of the Wildlife 
Board; 
(c) allow applicants to apply for wildlife expo permits without purchasing admission to the 
wildlife exposition; 
(d) notify the division of the successful applicant of each wildlife expo permit within 10 
days of the applicant's selection; 
(e) maintain records demonstrating that the drawing was conducted fairly; and 
(f) submit to an annual wildlife exposition audit by a division appointed auditor. 

(7) The division shall issue the appropriate wildlife expo permit to the designated successful 
applicant after: 

(a) completion of the random selection process; 
(b) verification of the recipient being eligible for the permit; and 
(c) payment of the appropriate permit fee is received by the division. 

(8) The division and the conservation organization receiving the wildlife expo permit series 
will enter into a contract with terms that include the relevant provisions in this rule, the request 
for proposal, and the conservation organization's proposal. 
(9) If the conservation organization awarded the wildlife expo permit series withdraws before 
the end of the 5-year period or any extension period under R657-55-4(1)(b), any remaining co-
participant with the conservation organization may assume the contract and distribute the expo 
permit series consistent with the contract and this rule for the remaining years in the applicable 
period, provided: 

(a) The original contracted conservation organization submits a certified letter to the head of 
the procurement unit, as defined in Section 63G-6a-103, and the division identifying that it 
will no longer be participating in the exposition; 
(b) The co-participant conservation organization submits a request with the head of the 
procurement unit and the division for authorization to assume the remaining term of the 
contract ; and 
(c) the head of the procurement unit, in consultation with the division and Wildlife Board, 
approves the application. 

(10) The division may suspend or terminate the conservation organization's authority to 
distribute wildlife expo permits at any time during the original five-year award term or any 
renewal period for: 

(a) violating any of the requirements set forth in this rule or the contract; or 
(b) failing to bring or organize a wildlife exposition in Utah, as described in the business 
plan under R657-55-4(4)(e), in any given year. 

R657-55-5. Wildlife Expo Permit Application Procedures. 

(1) Any person legally eligible to hunt in Utah may apply for a wildlife expo permit, except 
that only a nonresident of Utah may apply for a special nonresident expo permit. 
(2) The handling fee assessed by the conservation organization to process applications shall be 
$5 per application submitted. 
(3)(a) Except as provided in Subsection (3)(b) and (9), an applicant must validate their 
application in person at the wildlife exposition to be eligible to participate in the wildlife expo 
permit drawing. 

(i) No person may submit an application in behalf of another. 



(ii) A person may validate their wildlife expo permit application at the exposition without 
having to enter the exposition and pay the admission charge. 

(b) An applicant that is a member of the United States Armed Forces and unable to attend 
the wildlife exposition as a result of being deployed or mobilized in the interest of national 
defense or a national emergency is not required to validate their application in person; 
provided exposition administrators are furnished a copy of the written deployment or 
mobilization orders and the orders identify: 

(i) the branch of the United States Armed forces from which the applicant is deployed or 
mobilized; 
(ii) the location where the applicant is deployed or mobilized; 
(iii) the date the applicant is required to report to duty; and 
(iv) the nature and length of the applicant's deployment or mobilization. 

(c) The conservation organization shall maintain a record, including copies of military 
orders, of each applicant not required to validate their application in person pursuant to 
Subsection (3)(b), and submit to a division audit of these records as part of its annual audit 
under R657-55-4(8)(f) when requested by the division. 

(4) An applicant may apply for each individual hunt for which they are eligible. 
(5) An applicant may apply only once for each hunt, regardless of the number of permits for 
that hunt. 
(6) An applicant must submit an application for each desired hunt. 
(7) An applicant must possess a current Utah hunting or combination license in order to apply 
for a wildlife expo permit. 
(8) The conservation organization shall advertise, accept, and process applications for wildlife 
expo permits and conduct the drawing in compliance with this rule and other applicable laws. 
(9) Due to the serious public health threat posed by the COVID-19 pandemic and 
recommendations form the CDC, Utah, and local health departments to avoid public 
gatherings and to maintain social distancing, the 2021 exposition is modified as follows: 

(a) a wildlife expo permit applicant will not be required to validate their application in-
person at the expo permit drawing; 
(b) the wildlife expo permit drawing may be conducted entirely in an electronic format, 
provided an in-person or electronic exposition is held; 
(c) any exposition requirement in this rule and in contract related to holding an in-person 
exposition and meeting minimum in-person attendance objectives are waived. 

R657-55-6. Drawing Procedures. 

(1) A random drawing or selection process must be conducted for each wildlife expo permit. 
(2) Preference and bonus points are neither awarded nor applied in the drawings. 
(3) Waiting periods do not apply, except any person who obtains a wildlife expo permit for a 
once-in-a-lifetime species is subject to the once-in-a-lifetime restrictions applicable to 
obtaining a subsequent permit for the same species through a division application and drawing 
process, as provided in R657-62 and the guide books of the Wildlife Board for taking big 
game. 
(4) No predetermined quotas or restrictions shall be imposed in the application or selection 
process for wildlife expo permits between resident and nonresident applicants, except that 
special nonresident expo permits may only be awarded to a nonresident of Utah. 
(5) Drawings will be conducted within five days of the close of the exposition. 



(6) Applicants do not have to be present at the drawing to be awarded a wildlife expo permit. 
(7) The conservation organization shall identify all eligible alternates for each wildlife expo 
permit and provide the division with a finalized list. This list will be maintained by the 
conservation organization until all permits are issued. 
(8) The division shall contact successful applicants, and the conservation organization shall 
post the name of all successful applicants on a designated website. 

R657-55-7. Issuance of Permits. 

(1) The division shall provide a wildlife expo permit to the successful applicant, as designated 
by the conservation organization. 
(2) The division must provide a wildlife expo permit to each successful applicant, except as 
otherwise provided in this rule. 
(3) The division shall provide each successful applicant a letter indicating the permit secured 
in the drawing, the appropriate fee owed the division, and the date the fee is due. 
(4)(a) Successful applicants must submit the permit fee payment in full to the division before 
receiving the permit. 

(b) Subject to the limitation in Subsection (8), the division will issue the designated wildlife 
expo permit to the successful applicant. 

(5) Residents will pay resident permit fees and nonresidents will pay nonresident permit fees. 
(6) Beginning in 2019, applicants are eligible to obtain only one expo permit each year, 
regardless of species. 
(7) If an applicant is selected for more than one expo permit, the division will contact the 
applicant to determine which permit the applicant selects. 

(a) The applicant must select the permit of choice within 2 days of receiving notification. 
(b) If the division is unable to contact the applicant within 2 days, the division will issue to 
the applicant the permit with the most difficult drawing odds based on drawing results from 
the division's big game drawing for the preceding year. 
(c) Permits not issued to the applicant will go to the next person on the alternate drawing list 
for that permit, provided the person is legally eligible to receive the permit and does not 
have a secured opportunity for any other expo permit. 

(8) Any successful applicant who fails to satisfy the following requirements will be ineligible 
to receive the wildlife expo permit and the next drawing alternate for that permit will be 
selected: 

(a) The applicant fails to remit the appropriate permit fee in full to the division by the date 
provided in Subsection (3); 
(b) The applicant does not possess a valid Utah hunting or combination license at the time 
the expo permit application was submitted; or 
(c) The applicant is legally ineligible to possess the permit. 

R657-55-8. Surrender or Transfer of Wildlife Expo Permits. 

(1)(a) A person selected to receive a wildlife expo permit that is also successful in obtaining a 
Utah once-in-a-lifetime or limited entry permit for the same species in the same year or 
successful in obtaining a general permit for a male animal of the same species in the same 
year, may not possess both permits and must select the permit of choice. 



(b) In the event a secured opportunity is surrendered before the permit is issued, the next 
eligible applicant on the alternate drawing list for that permit will be selected to receive the 
permit, provided the person is legally eligible to receive the permit and does not: 

(i) have a secured opportunity for any other expo permit; or 
(ii) possess any other expo permit valid in the same year. 

(c) In the event the wildlife expo permit is surrendered, the next eligible applicant on the 
alternate drawing list for that permit will be selected to receive it, provided the person 
satisfies the eligibility requirements in Subsection (b). 
(d) The permit fee on a surrendered expo permit may be refunded, as provided in Sections 
23-19-38, 23-19-38.2, and R657-42-5. 

(2) A person selected by a conservation organization to receive a wildlife expo permit, may 
not sell or transfer the permit, or any rights thereunder to another person in accordance with 
Section 23-19-1. 
(3) If a person is successful in obtaining a wildlife expo permit but is legally ineligible to hunt 
in Utah, the next eligible applicant on the alternate drawing list for that permit will be selected 
to receive it, provided the person satisfies the eligibility requirements in Subsection (1)(b). 

R657-55-9. Using a Wildlife Expo Permit. 

(1) A wildlife expo permit allows the recipient to: 
(a) take only the species and sex printed on the permit; 
(b) take the species only in the area and during the season specified on the permit; and 
(c) take the species only with the weapon type specified on the permit. 

(2) The recipient of a wildlife expo permit is subject to all the provisions of Title 23, Wildlife 
Resources Code, and the rules and guidebooks of the Wildlife Board for taking and pursuing 
wildlife. 

R657-55-10. Wildlife Expo Permit — Application Handling Fee Revenue. 

(1)(a) All wildlife expo permit application handling fee revenue generated by the conservation 
organization under R657-55-5(2) will be deposited in a separate, federally insured account to 
prevent commingling with any other funds. 

(b) Interest earned on the portion of application handling fee revenue retained by the 
conservation organization for administrative expenses under Subsection (2) may be retained 
and used by the conservation organization. 
(c) Interest earned on the portion of application handling fee revenue committed to fund 
wildlife conservation projects under Subsection (3) shall be used by the conservation 
organization to fund approved wildlife conservation projects. 

(2) The conservation organization may retain up to $3.50 of each $5.00 application handling 
fee for administrative expenses, unless the conservation organization pledges a greater 
percentage of the application handling fee to wildlife conservation in: 

(a) its response to the request for proposal; or 
(b) the expo contract with the division. 

(3) The remaining balance of each $5.00 application handling fee and accrued interest, less 
standard banking fees assessed on the account where the funding is deposited, will be used by 
the conservation organization to fund projects advancing wildlife interests in the state, subject 
to the following: 



(a) project funding will not be committed to or expended on any project without first 
obtaining the division director's written approval; 
(b) cash donations to the Wildlife Habitat Account created under Section 23-19-43 or 
Division Species Enhancement Funds are authorized projects that do not require the 
division director's approval; and 
(c) application handling fee revenue dedicated to funding projects must be completely 
expended on approved projects or transferred to the division by August 1st, two years 
following the year in which the application handling fee revenue is collected. 

(4) Application handling fee revenue committed to division-approved projects will be 
transferred by the conservation organization to the division within 60 days of being invoiced 
by the division. 

(a) If the division-approved project to which funds are committed is completed under 
projected budget or canceled, funds committed to the project that are not used will be kept 
by the division and credited back to the conservation organization and made available for 
the group to use on other approved projects during the current or subsequent year. 

(5) All records and receipts for projects under Subsection (3) must be retained by the 
conservation organization for a period not less than five years, and shall be produced to the 
division for inspection upon request. 
(6) The conservation organization shall submit a report to the division and Wildlife Board 
each year by August 1st that accounts for and documents the following: 

(a) gross revenue generated from collecting $5 wildlife expo permit application handling 
fees; 
(b) total amount of application handling fee revenue retained for administrative expenses; 
and 
(c) total amount of application handling fee revenue set aside and dedicated to funding 
projects, including bank statements showing account balances. 

(7) A partner organization that individually receives application handling fee revenue from the 
expo permit drawing pursuant to a co-participant contract with the conservation organization, 
is subject to the provisions in Subsections (1) through (6). 

 



SPENCER J. COX 
Governor 

DIEDRE M. HENDERSON 
Lieutenant Governor 

 
 
 

 

State of Utah 
DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 

1594 West North Temple, Suite 2110, PO Box 146301, Salt Lake City, UT 84114-6301 
telephone (801) 538-4700 • facsimile (801) 538-4709 • TTY (801) 538-7458 • www.wildlife.utah.gov 

   

 

JOEL FERRY 
Executive Director 

Division of Wildlife Resources 
J. SHIRLEY 

Division Director 
 
 
  

 
 
 
  
 

       
 
 
  

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
 
TO:       Wildlife Board   
 
FROM:     Covy Jones Wildlife Section Chief     
 
DATE:       August 3, 2023  
 
SUBJECT:  Expo Permit Allocation 
The Utah Division of Wildlife Resources is recommending 200 hunting permits for the Hunt 
Expo (see attached tables for details). Proposed changes this year include: 
Discontinued Permits: 

• Elk  
o Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/South (1 early, any legal weapon) 
o Central Mtns, Manti (6 early any legal weapon, 1 late any legal weapon,               

1 archery)  
o Mt Dutton (1 early, any legal weapon) 
o Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes (1 early, any legal weapon) 
o Wasatch Mtns (2 early, any legal weapon) 

• Mountain Goat 
o North Slope/South Slope, High Uintas West (1 any legal weapon, hunter’s choice) 
o La Sal, La Sal Mtns (1 any legal weapon, hunter’s choice) 

• Turkey 
o Northern Region (1 permit)  

Replacements for Additional Permits: 
• Elk   

o Beaver, East (1 mid, any legal weapon) 
o Book Cliffs, Bitter Creek/East (1 mid, any legal weapon) 
o Central Mtns, Manti (6 mid, any legal weapon) 
o Central Mtns, Nebo/San Pitch Mtn (1 mid, any legal weapon) 
o  La Sal, La Sal Mtns (1 mid, any legal weapon) 
o Mt Dutton (1 mid, any legal weapon) 
o Panguitch Lake (1 mid, any legal weapon) 
o Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes (2 mid, any legal weapon) 
o Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes (1 mid, any legal weapon) 

• Turkey 
o Southern Region (1 permit) 

 
All other expo permits will remain the same as last year. 
 
CDJ  



2024 Proposed Expo Permits by Species and Residency
Board Approved: 8/27/2015 TOTAL PERMITS

Res NonRes Total

Grand Total 152 48 200

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

Total 3 2 5

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

TOTAL 3 1 4

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

TOTAL 9 3 12

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

Antlerless Elk Central Mtns, Man� Any Open Season and Unit Within Boundary 2 1 3
Antlerless Elk La Sal Any Open Season and Unit Within Boundary 1 0 1
Antlerless Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes Any Open Season and Unit Within Boundary 0 1 1

Bison Book Cliffs, Li�le Creek/South BI6530 Hunter's Choice 1 0 1
Bison Henry Mtns BI6503 Hunter's Choice (early) 1 0 1
Bison Book Cliffs, Bi�er Creek BI6536 Cow Only 1 0 1
Bison Henry Mtns BI6505 Cow Only (early) 0 1 1

Black Bear Wasatch Mtns, West-Central BR7120 Summer, Any Legal Weapon, No Dogs 1 1 2
Black Bear La Sal BR7008 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No Bait 1 1 2
Black Bear Nine Mile BR7211 Fall, Any Legal Weapon 1 0 1
Black Bear Plateau, Boulder/Kaiparowits BR7215 Fall, Any Legal Weapon 1 0 1
Black Bear Book Cliffs, Bi�er Creek/South BR7001 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No Bait 1 0 1
Black Bear South Slope, Bonanza/Diamond Mtn/Vernal BR7015 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No Bait 1 0 1
Black Bear Central Mtns, Man�-North BR7003 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No Bait 1 0 1
Black Bear Central Mtns, Nebo BR7005 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No Bait 1 0 1
Black Bear San Juan BR7014 Spring, Any Legal Weapon, No Bait 1 1 2

Buck Deer Book Cliffs, North DB1017 Any Weapon 4 1 5



Buck Deer Book Cliffs, South DB1018 Any Weapon 2 1 3
Buck Deer Book Cliffs DB1011 Archery 1 1 2
Buck Deer Book Cliffs DB1025 Muzzleloader 2 1 3
Buck Deer Cache, Crawford Mtn DB1026 Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Deer Central Mtns Man�/San Rafeal DB1079 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Deer Fillmore, Oak Creek LE DB1019 Any Weapon 2 0 2
Buck Deer Henry Mtns DB1003 Premium Any Weapon 1 0 1
Buck Deer Paunsaugunt DB1004 Premium Any Weapon 2 1 3
Buck Deer Paunsaugunt DB1001 Premium Archery 1 0 1
Buck Deer Paunsaugunt DB1006 Premium Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Deer Paunsaugunt DB1010 Management Buck, Any Weapon 1 0 1
Buck Deer Pine Valley DB1034 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Deer San Juan, Elk Ridge DB1022 Any Weapon 1 1 2
Buck Deer South Slope, Diamond Mtn DB1023 Any Weapon 4 1 5
Buck Deer South Slope, Diamond Mtn DB1015 Archery 1 0 1
Buck Deer South Slope, Diamond Mtn DB1038 Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Deer Wasatch Mtns, West DB1087 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Deer Wasatch Mtns, East DB1041 Late-season Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon DB1024 Any Weapon 4 1 5
Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon DB1016 Archery 2 1 3
Buck Deer West Desert, Vernon DB1042 Muzzleloader 1 1 2
Buck Deer Zion DB1043 Late-season Muzzleloader 1

Buck Pronghorn Beaver PB5025 Any Weapon 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn Book Cliffs, Bi�er Creek PB5026 Any Weapon 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn Cache, Rich PB5073 Any Weapon 2 0 2
Buck Pronghorn Cache, Rich PB5074 Archery 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn Fillmore, Oak Creek South PB5008 Archery 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn Fillmore, Oak Creek South PB5033 Any Weapon 2 0 2
Buck Pronghorn Mt Du�on/Paunsaugunt PB5331 Any Weapon 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn Nine Mile, Anthro-Myton Bench PB5037 Any Weapon 2 0 2
Buck Pronghorn Pine Valley PB5042 Any Weapon 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn San Rafael, North PB5015 Archery 1 0 1

1 0

TOTAL 37 10 47

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total



Buck Pronghorn San Rafael, North PB5056 Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn San Rafael, North PB5046 Any Weapon 3 1 4
Buck Pronghorn Southwest Desert PB5018 Archery 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn Southwest Desert PB5024 Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Buck Pronghorn Southwest Desert PB5049 Any Weapon 2 1 3
Buck Pronghorn West Desert, Riverbed PB5050 Any Weapon 1 0 1

Bull Elk Beaver, East EB3024 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Beaver, East EB3159 Any Weapon (mid) 0 1 1
Bull Elk Beaver, East EB3000 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bi�er Creek/East EB3163 Any Weapon (late) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Book CLiffs, Bi�er Creek/East EB3164 Any Weapon (mid) 0 1 1
Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bi�er Creek/East EB3162 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Book Cliffs, Bi�er Creek/East EB3160 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk Cache, Meadowville EB3032 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Cache, Meadowville EB3003 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk Cache, South EB3036 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Cache, South EB3005 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk Central Mtns, Man� EB3038 Any Weapon (early) 1 1 2
Bull Elk Central Mtns, Man� EB3126 Any Weapon (mid) 4 2 6
Bull Elk Central Mtns, Man� EB3039 Any Weapon (late) 2 1 3
Bull Elk Central Mtns, Man� EB3006 Archery 4 1 5
Bull Elk Central Mtns, Man� EB3084 Muzzleloader 2 1 3
Bull Elk Central Mtns, Nebo/San Pitch Mtn EB3173 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk Central Mtns, Nebo/San Pitch Mtn EB3175 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Central Mtns, Nebo/San Pitch Mtn EB3177 Any Weapon (mid) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Fillmore, Pahvant EB3043 Any Weapon (late) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Fillmore, Pahvant EB3008 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns EB3045 Any Weapon (early) 1 1 2
Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns EB3009 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns EB3046 Any Weapon (late) 0 1 1
Bull Elk La Sal, La Sal Mtns EB3183 Any Weapon (mid) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Mt Du�on EB3050 Any Weapon (late) 1 0 1

TOTAL 22 2 24

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total



Bull Elk Mt Du�on EB3187 Any Weapon (mid) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Mt Du�on EB3011 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk Panguitch Lake EB3015 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk Panguitch Lake EB3056 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Panguitch Lake EB3189 Any Weapon (mid) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3064 Any Weapon (Mid) 2 1 3
Bull Elk Plateau, Boulder EB3148 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Plateau, Boulder EB3145 Archery 0 1 1
Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3063 Any Weapon (early) 1 1 2
Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3065 Any Weapon (late) 2 1 3
Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3018 Archery 1 1 2
Bull Elk Plateau, Fishlake/Thousand Lakes EB3096 Muzzleloader 1 0 1
Bull Elk Southwest Desert, South EB3149 Any Weapon (early) 1 1 2
Bull Elk Southwest Desert, South EB3152 Any Weapon (late) 1 1 2
Bull Elk Southwest Desert, South EB3146 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk San Juan Bull Elk EB3019 Archery 1 0 1
Bull Elk San Juan Bull Elk EB3066 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk South Slope, Diamond Mtn EB3068 Any Weapon (early) 1 0 1
Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3072 Any Weapon (early) 4 2 6
Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3073 Any Weapon (late) 3 1 4
Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3127 Any Weapon (mid) 3 1 4
Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3022 Archery 4 2 6
Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3100 Muzzleloader 3 2 5
Bull Elk Wasatch Mtns EB3124 Mul�-Season 1 0 1

Bull Moose Wasatch Mtns/Central Mtns MB6011 1 1 2

Kaiparowits, East DS6601 1 0 1
San Rafael, North DS6609 1 0 1

Desert Bighorn S
Desert Bighorn S

TOTAL 68 25 93

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

TOTAL 1 1 2

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

TOTAL 2 0 2



PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

TOTAL 1 1 2

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

TOTAL 2 0 2

PERMITS

Species Area Hunt Number Condi�on Res NonRes Total

TOTAL 4 3 7

Mountain Goat Central Mtns, Nebo GO6821 Hunter's Choice, Archery 1 0 1
Mountain Goat Beaver Early GO6800 Hunter's Choice 0 1 1

Box Elder, Newfoundland Mtn RS6703 (early) 1 0 1
Fillmore, Oak Creek RS6720 (early) 1 0 1

Turkey Northern Region TK1005 Spring, Limited Entry 1 0 1
Turkey Northeast Region TK1004 Spring, Limited Entry 1 0 1
Turkey Central Region TK1003 Spring, Limited Entry 1 1 2
Turkey Southern Region TK1007 Spring, Limited Entry 1 1 2
Turkey Southeast Region TK1006 Spring, Limited Entry 0 1 1

Rocky Mtn. Bigho
Rocky Mtn. Bigho


	1 - 8 August 17 2023 Agenda DRAFT
	2 - 8-17-2023 Action Log
	3 - 06-08-2023 Wildlife Board Minutes DRAFT
	4 - 2023 Expo Audit Final
	Audit Memo 2023
	Draft Expo Permit Program Audit 2023
	Attachment 1 2023 Projects
	Attachment 2 2023 Projects
	2023 Expo Witness List
	Administrative rule R657 55 Expo
	Administrative rule R657-55
	R657-55-1. Purpose and Authority.
	R657-55-2. Definitions.
	R657-55-3. Wildlife Expo Permit Allocation.
	R657-55-4. Obtaining Authority to Distribute Wildlife Expo Permit Series.
	R657-55-5. Wildlife Expo Permit Application Procedures.
	R657-55-6. Drawing Procedures.
	R657-55-7. Issuance of Permits.
	R657-55-8. Surrender or Transfer of Wildlife Expo Permits.
	R657-55-9. Using a Wildlife Expo Permit.
	R657-55-10. Wildlife Expo Permit — Application Handling Fee Revenue.



	5 - Expo permit allocation 8-2-2023 memo
	5 - Expo permit allocation 8-2-2023 memo
	2024 Proposed Expo Permits - Google Sheets




